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)

DECISION


Avron E. Riggins’ peace officer license is subject to discipline because Riggins committed a criminal offense and committed an act while under color of law that involves moral turpitude and a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person.

Procedure


On July 1, 2003, the Director of the Department of Public Safety (Director) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Riggins’ peace officer license.  On November 25, 2003, the Director filed a motion for summary determination.  Pursuant to § 536.073.3,
 our Regulation 

1 CSR 15-3.440(3)(B) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if the Director establishes facts that (a) Riggins does not dispute and (b) entitle the Director to a favorable 

decision.  ITT Commercial Fin. Corp. v. Mid-Am. Marine Supply Corp., 854 S.W.2d 371, 380-82 (Mo. banc 1993).


The Director cites the request for admissions that was served on Riggins on October 14, 2003.  Under Supreme Court Rule 59.01, the failure to answer a request for admissions establishes the matters asserted in the request, and no further proof is required.  Killian Constr. Co. v. Tri-City Constr. Co., 693 S.W.2d 819, 827 (Mo. App., W.D. 1985).  Such a deemed admission can establish any fact or any application of law to fact.  Linde v. Kilbourne, 543 S.W.2d 543, 545-46 (Mo. App., W.D. 1976).  That rule applies to all parties, including those acting pro se.  Research Hosp. v. Williams, 651 S.W.2d 667, 669 (Mo. App., W.D. 1983).  Section 536.073 and our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.420(1) apply that rule to this case.


We gave Riggins until December 11, 2003, to respond to the motion, but he did not.  Therefore, the following facts are undisputed.

Findings of Fact

1. Riggins is licensed as a peace officer.  His license was current and active at all relevant times.

2. Riggins was employed by the Kinloch Police Department at all relevant times.

3. On or about May 30, 2002, Riggins committed the Class C misdemeanor of assault in the third degree, in violation of § 565.070, at 6210 Wagner, in St. Louis County, in that he purposely placed Theresa Hubbard and Marangela Hampton in apprehension of immediate physical injury by pointing a handgun at Hubbard and Hampton and threatening to shoot them.

4. During this incident on May 30, 2002, Riggins was wearing his Kinloch Police Department uniform and driving a police car.

5. Riggins made a statement to the Wellston Police Department that when he exited his police car, a dog lunged at him and he fired his service weapon twice at the dog.

6. On January 22, 2003, Riggins was found guilty of assault in the third degree in the Circuit Court of St. Louis County.  On March 14, 2003, Riggins was sentenced to two years probation.

Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear this complaint.  Section 621.045.  The Director has the burden of proving that Riggins has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989). 


The Director argues that there is cause to discipline Riggins’ license under § 590.080, RSMo Supp. 2002, which states:


1.  The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:


(2) Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed;


(3) Has committed any act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person[.]


Riggins admits that he purposely placed Theresa Hubbard and Marangela Hampton in apprehension of immediate physical injury by pointing a handgun at them and threatening to shoot them.  He admits that this was a criminal offense under § 565.070, which states:


1.  A person commits the crime of assault in the third degree if:

*   *   *


(3) The person purposely placed another person in apprehension of immediate physical injury[.] 


There is cause to discipline Riggins’ license under § 590.080.1(2), RSMo Supp. 2002, because Riggins committed a criminal offense.


The Director also argues that Riggins committed the assault while on active duty or under color of law and that the act involves moral turpitude.  Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”

In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).


Riggins does not admit that he was on active duty at the time of the incident, but admits that he was wearing his police uniform and driving a police car.  Because we cannot make a finding that Riggins was on duty, we must determine whether his actions were “under color of law.”  We have found cause for discipline under this statute for acting under color of law, but our decisions were based on convictions for violating 18 U.S.C. § 242, which states:

Whoever, under color of any law . . . willfully subjects any person . . . to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured or protected by the Constitution or laws of the United States, or to different punishments, pains, or penalties, on account of such person being an alien, or by reason of his color, or race than are prescribed for the punishment of citizens, shall be fined . . . . 

(Emphasis added.)  Thus, in our prior cases, whether the police officer acted under color of law had already been determined.  Director of Department of Public Safety v. Nettleton, No. 03-0087 PO (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n May 20, 2003);  Director of Department of Public Safety v. Lower, No. 99-3461 PO (Mo. Admin Hearing Comm’n Aug. 2, 2000).


The Director’s evidence that Riggins acted under color of law is Riggins’ admission that he was wearing a police uniform and driving a police car at the time of the assault.  Courts have stated that whether the police officer is off duty or out of uniform is not controlling in 

determining whether the conduct was under color of law.  “It is the nature of the act performed, not the clothing of the actor or even the status of being on or off duty, which determines whether the officer has acted under color of law.”  Pickard v. City of Girard, 70 F. Supp. 2d 802, 805 (N.D. Ohio 1999) (citations omitted).  The court set forth two circumstances where an off-duty police officer’s actions are “state actions” because they were performed under color of law:

(1) when a police officer undertakes purely private action while invoking his authority as a policy officer, or as a result of his role as a police officer; and (2) when an off-duty police officer undertakes an official duty.

Id. at 806.


However, in determining the nature of the act performed, the courts consider such factors as displaying a badge and uniform, or making “other assertions of police authority.”  In re Albert S., 664 A.2d 476, 483 (Md. App., 1995).  In that case, the court found that a police officer was acting under color of police authority because he used a marked police cruiser, despite the fact that he was not in uniform and did not identify himself as a police officer.  Id. at 484.   See Brewer v. Trimble, 902 S.W.2d 342, 344 (Mo. App., S.D. 1995) (police officer outside his jurisdiction used his police authority and police car to pursue and stop speeding vehicle).  The cases in which the courts found that the officer was not acting under color of law usually involved assaults that were clearly private in nature and did not involve any display of police powers or “indicia” of office.  Latuszkin v. City of Chicago, 250 F.3d 502, 506 (7th Cir. 2001); Huffman v. County of Los Angeles, 147 F.3d 1054, 1058 (9th Cir. 1998).


Riggins was wearing his police uniform and driving his police car to the scene of the assault.  While it would be helpful to know more about the nature of the assault, we find that his act was under color of law.  Riggins pointed a gun at two people and threatened to shoot them 

without any apparent justification.  This is an act involving moral turpitude and an act committed without regard for their safety.  There is cause to discipline Riggins’ license under § 590.080.1(3), RSMo Supp. 2002.

Summary


We grant the Director’s motion for summary determination and find cause to discipline Riggins’ peace officer license under § 590.080.1(2) and (3), RSMo Supp. 2002.  We cancel the hearing.


SO ORDERED on January 2, 2004.



________________________________



JUNE STRIEGEL DOUGHTY



Commissioner

	�Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri.





PAGE  
6

